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Pegasus: Journal of  the Dallas Genealogical Society

The Publications Committee chose the name Pegasus for our journal because the winged 
horse is regarded as the symbol of  the Muses and of  aspiring to great accomplishments, 
and, more importantly, because a Pegasus has been an icon of  the City of  Dallas for 
decades.

First erected in 1934 on the roof  of  the Magnolia Petroleum Co. headquarters on Com-
merce Street, the winged horse sign, fabricated by Texlite Signs in Dallas, became one of  
Dallas’s most enduring and recognizable landmarks. In 1959, it became the logo of  Mobil 
Oil when it merged with Magnolia Petroleum. The city conferred landmark status to the 
sign in 1973. In 1976, it became the property of  the City of  Dallas.

In 1978, the Magnolia Building was listed in the National Register of  Historic Places. De-
velopers bought the building in 1997 and converted it to the present-day Magnolia Hotel. 
In 1999, in anticipation of  Dallas’s Millennium Celebration, the original sign was taken 
down and put into storage when a new sign was commissioned. A completely new sign 
was lit for the first time at midnight on 1 January 2000. This work was accessioned into 
the Public Art Collection in 2000.

In the spring of  2015, after a two-year restoration project, the original Pegasus sign was 
installed on City of  Dallas Property in front of  the Omni Hotel at 555 S. Lamar Street (the 
corner of  Lamar and Young Streets). The restored sign rotates on top of  a twenty-two-foot 
high oil derrick.

Articles Solicited for Pegasus: Journal of  the Dallas Genealogical Society

The DGS Publications Committee is actively seeking articles that showcase both genea-
logical research and writing and compilations that feature unpublished genealogical re-
cords. Articles may be submitted by members and non-members of  DGS, both hobbyists 
and professionals. Articles may not have been previously published elsewhere.

There will be two categories of  publication: research issues that feature articles (case 
studies, methodologies, family genealogies) and records issues that feature transcriptions, 
abstracts, or indexes of  records not yet filmed, digitized, or published elsewhere (e.g., 
cemeteries, family bibles, civil, religious, business groups, etc.).

To encourage article submissions, DGS will compensate authors for their material upon 
publication. We are one of  a handful of  societies to reward authors in this manner.

Guidelines for submission and payment terms can be found at: 
http://dallasgenealogy.com/dgs/publications/pegasus/
Send submissions or questions to: pegasus@dallasgenealogy.org. 

On the Cover

Night view of  the neon Pegasus on the roof  of  the Magnolia Hotel, 1401 Commerce St., 
Dallas, Texas. Used with permission of  The Magnolia Hotel, Dallas.
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From the Editor…

Genealogical research continues to yield remarkable stories about our 
ancestors. Even more evident is that technology now gives us a way to learn 
even more about our ancestors and provides new avenues for sharing that 
information. The one constant in all of  this is the stories themselves.

In this issue of  Pegasus we see evidence of  the impact of  technology on 
research and at the same time we appreciate the range of  stories that are 
told.  I hope you enjoy reading these articles as much as the members of  
our Publications Committee have and that you consider sharing one of  your 
stories with us in the future.

•	 “Rising: The Story of  John Wesley Barnes and Edna Mollie 
Crawford,” which took first place in the 2015 DGS Writing Contest, 
was written by Diane Barnes Gawedzinski. Follow their ancestors 
from their early beginnings in Georgia and Alabama in the early 
1800s as they migrated to Arkansas and Oklahoma before some of  
their descendants came to Texas in the 1920s, settling in the boom 
town of  Dallas to raise their family.

•	 RL Canady shares the story of  “Polly the Slave Girl” in his article, 
which won second place in the 2015 DGS Writing Contest. Slave 
research can be particularly challenging and RL has captured the life 
of  this young girl who moved to Texas with the Daniel family. Polly 
proceeded to marry and raise her own family following the June 19, 
1865 announcement of  Freedom. She and her husband are buried in 
White Rock Garden of  Memories in Dallas, leaving descendants to 
carry on the tradition of  their courage and pioneer spirit. 

•	 DNA research takes the forefront in Ray Harriot’s “A Case 
Study in Using DNA for DAR Membership: First Successful 
Application,” the first place winner in the 2016 DGS Writing 
Contest. DNA continues to grow as a means of identifying or 
confirming lineage and this is the first case in which the Daughters 
of the American Revolution used it to confer membership to its 
organization. While DNA results had been used previously in 
lineage applications, there was always additional evidence. In 
this case, DNA was the piece that linked it all together. It is a 
fascinating story of a search for family in this new technological 
age. According to a blog post on the Daughters of the American 
Revolution website (http://blog.dar.org/y-dna-evidence-used-
approved-membership-application) on 22 April 1916, “Y-DNA 

http://blog.dar.org/y-dna-evidence-used-approved-membership-application
http://blog.dar.org/y-dna-evidence-used-approved-membership-application


Evidence [Has Been] Used for an Approved Membership 
Application ... Sue Williams joined the Toll Gate Creek Chapter 
in Colorado after using Y-DNA to help document one of the 
relationships in her lineage to her Patriot.” DNA testing resulted 
in a “. . . 100% match (37/37 marker match) indicating that indeed 
this great-grandchild was a descendant of the established Patriot 
through one his grandsons [sic].” The DAR did “extensive research 
and review before the final [application] package was complete. . . 
.  it was important to establish a secure foundation for future use of 
Y-DNA evidence.”

•	 Jana Walker searches for “The Elusive Andrew Lyday, 1809–1849,” 
with interesting results in her 2016 DGS Writing Contest second 
place article. Walker follows clues in stories of  other family members 
to trace the records providing proof  for Andrew Lyday’s life. The 
search for Andrew offers even more clues and continues to fully 
document his life. 

•	 “Alice’s Looking Glass: Reflection on the Prussian Drahns to Texas,” 
the 2016 DGS Writing Contest third place winner, was written by 
Vicki Welch Ayo. In it, Vicki explores the Drahns early days in 
Germany and their move to America in 1855 in search of  a better 
life for their family. Settling in Illinois, they soon found their way to 
Texas and quickly settled into the American way of  life. Coming to 
Texas was “love at first sight,” and they knew they were home.

Remember, submissions for Pegasus are always welcome. We are on the 
lookout for research articles as well as transcriptions, abstracts, or indexes of  
various records not yet filmed or digitized. Details can be found on the DGS 
website at http://www.dallasgenealogy.org/prod/index.php/journal-articles.

In closing, I would like to thank all of  the contributors for this issue, the 
Publications Committee, and our wonderful proofreaders. This issue would 
not be possible without all of  you.

Sandra J. Crowley, Managing Editor
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The Story of John Wesley Barnes 
and Edna Mollie Crawford

2015 DGS Writing Contest First Place Winner

by Diane Barnes Gawedzinski

In early 1922, as the new Magnolia Building—not yet topped by the flying 
red horse that was to become its beacon—was stretching ever-higher in the 

Dallas skyline, a young couple with two small daughters was settling across 
the Trinity River in North Oak Cliff.1 John “Wesley” Barnes and his wife, 
Edna (née Crawford), had crossed another river—the Red—on their way to 
Dallas from Oklahoma, but this latest crossing was only one of many such, 
both literal and figurative, that the Barnes and Crawford families made in the 
years following the Civil War. 

Thomas Barnes (c. 1804–1870)

	 Wesley’s grandfather, Thomas Barnes, was a prominent and prosperous 
man in antebellum Henry and DeKalb Counties, Georgia, as evidenced by a 
substantial document trail from the time he served as Justice of the Peace and 
Road Commissioner.2 He was also Worshipful Master (an office equivalent to 
president) of Lithonia’s Masonic Lodge #84.3 

	 By 1860, 56-year old Thomas was living in the Barnes District (likely 
named after him) just south of Lithonia, Georgia with his 23-year old wife, 
Mary Jane (née Peeler), who was probably his third spouse.4 There are six of 
his children listed in the 1860 census, including Wesley’s father, five-year old 
Benjamin Franklin “B.F.” Barnes. Thomas owned real estate valued at $4,000 
(more than $114,000 in 2015 dollars), and, in addition, he owned 14 slaves.5 

	 According to an apocryphal family legend recorded in the 1970s by one 
of Thomas Barnes’s descendants, Thomas’s Masonic connection saved his 
plantation when General Sherman avoided burning his fellow Mason’s home.6 

In contrast, Thomas Maguire, another prominent figure in the Lithonia Lodge 
who presided over Thomas Barnes’s Masonic-rite funeral a few years later, 
wrote in his diary as Sherman destroyed Lithonia, “What will become of us. 
God only knows.”7,8 Another DeKalb County resident, Mary Gay, wrote of 
the devastation in Sherman’s wake: “Not a vestige of anything remained to 
mark the sites of the pretty homes which had dotted this fair country before 
the destroyer came, except, perhaps, a standing chimney now and then.”9 Lee 
surrendered to Grant just eight days after B.F.’s tenth birthday.10 
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	 Although Thomas received a presidential pardon from Andrew Johnson 
under the Amnesty Proclamation of 1865, his family never fully recovered 
from the war.11 Thomas died on 28 May 1870 from what The Atlanta Constitution 
called “a fit,” but was probably meningitis.12 He died intestate, and his assets 
were entangled by demands from creditors. The situation was so dire that by 
15 March 1875, the administrator of Thomas’s estate filed a petition claiming 
that Thomas’s widow and minor children were “without the necessaries of 
life” and had no means of purchasing them.13

Benjamin Franklin “B.F.” Barnes (1855–1926)

	 Five years later, in 1880, 24-year old B.F. “Barns” was working as a 
farmhand in District 281, Royal, White County, Arkansas.14 White County 
tax rolls from the same year show B.F. with one poll and no personal property 
of any value.15 In the 1880 census, B.F. is recorded as “single,” but three weeks 
after enumeration, he married Nancy Arminda Bradley on 5 July 1880 in 
White County.16 The following year, Nancy gave birth to William Foy Barnes 
on 8 May 1881.17 

	 By 1885, B.F. and family were living in Eagle Township in nearby Lonoke 
County, Arkansas. Five years of hard work had netted B.F. personal property 
worth $100 ($2,500 in 2015 dollars).18 Nancy gave birth to a daughter, Naoma, 
on 8 June 1886.19 Nancy died sometime in the sixteen months between 
Naoma’s birth and B.F.’s next marriage to Nancy’s younger sister, Martha 
“Alice” Bradley, on 23 October 1887.20 One descendant’s notes indicate that 
Nancy Bradley Barnes died of Bright’s disease after giving birth to a baby who 
died two days later.21 Bright’s disease is a kidney ailment now more commonly 
known as nephritis.22 According to the same descendant, Alice (who was ten 
years younger than B.F.) was already engaged to “a man in Little Rock,” but 
was forced to marry B.F. after her sister’s death, possibly to care for her young 
niece and nephew.23 

	 The family fortunes had not improved much by 1889, when B.F. and Alice 
were living in York Township, Lonoke County, Arkansas, and B.F. owned a 
$10 watch, four cattle, and $25 of other personal property, for a total net worth 
of $60 ($1,578 in 2015 dollars).24

John Wesley Barnes (1896–1986)

	 Wesley’s family was likely still living in Lonoke County when he was born 
3 March 1896, although he preferred telling people he was born in nearby 
Little Rock.25 In an interview with the author in 1979, Wesley thought the 
family moved to Indian Territory (now Oklahoma) when he was about three 
years old. The family appears in the 1900 federal census near Hennepin, in 
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Enumeration District 161, Township 1-N-R-1 West, Chickasaw Nation. The 
children’s birth places and dates support their likely arrival around 1899, when 
Indian Territory had been open only a few years to white settlers. B.F., born 
on a Georgia plantation, was listed in the census as a “House Carpenter” who 
“O” (owned) his own farm, yet spent six months of the year “Not Employed.”26 
Wesley Barnes, however, always described his father as a blacksmith.27 

	 Wesley’s memories from that interview next spoke of relocating from 
Hennepin to Ardmore, where the family allegedly owned the “Barnes Hotel.” 
Although no records of any such hotel have been located, when he was well 
into his 80s, Wesley could nevertheless describe the hotel, as a two-story 
frame building.28 He did not list Springer in the Barnes family’s moves, but an 
advertisement for his father’s blacksmith business appeared in The Berwyn Light 
on 29 August 1907: “B.F. Barnes—Blacksmith, woodwork and all Repairing. 
Horseshoeing a Specialty. All work guaranteed. Springer, Indian Territory.”29 
Wesley also recalled the excitement of the 1907 Statehood Celebration.30 A 
terrible 1908 flood in Oklahoma that “killed most of the crops” subsequently 
caused the Barnes family to move again, this time to Amarillo, where B.F. 
Barnes’s older brother lived.31 

	 The 1910 census in Justice Precinct 1, Potter County, Texas, reveals that 
the B.F. Barnes family was now “R” (renting), no longer “O” (owning) their 
property. B.F. is still a “Carpenter” by trade, with “House” as the “General 
Nature” of his “Industry.”32 After about 18 months, the family returned to 
Oklahoma. Wesley said the Texas Panhandle “was too cold in winter...and 
there weren’t any trees.”33 

	 Next the Barnes family went to Paoli, Oklahoma, where B.F. again ran 
a livery stable and another “hotel” (which, like the first, was probably more 
aptly described as a boarding house). Wesley changed bed sheets and did odd 
jobs at the hotel.34 Paoli school records from 1912, 1914, and 1915 (found in 
an obscure drawer in the Garvin County Courthouse in 2009) confirm that 
Wesley was enrolled during those years.35 Wesley’s most interesting stories 
about his schooldays are not from these cards. 

	 For example, he claimed that a traveling insurance salesman (who was 
boarding at the hotel) taught him how to do algebra. When Wesley’s teacher 
couldn’t figure out the problems, she asked Wesley, in amazement, how he 
learned the difficult math. Not wanting to let on, he told her he taught himself. 
In another tale, Wesley spoke of beating several other Oklahoma debating 
teams during his last two years of high school, because he “had a voice that 
carried all the way to the back of the auditorium,” and, on at least one occasion, 
swayed the crowd to bursts of “cheering out” his name. Afterwards, the judge 
shook Wesley’s hand and told him he “should be a criminal lawyer.”36 
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	 Most of all, Wesley’s high school memories revolved around baseball, the 
game he loved throughout his long life. He claimed he was recruited while 
still at Paoli High School to play for nearby Wynnewood after graduation, 
and that despite still earning his diploma at the time, he was eligible to play 
by taking a couple of night school classes. In Wynnewood, he pitched, played 
various field positions, and was the fourth position “clean-up” batter. He also 
claimed that the Saint Louis Cardinals wanted him, but he wasn’t yet 21, 
so his father had to sign necessary release forms. Wesley said B.F. thought 
baseball players were “trashy” and refused to sign.37 

Wesley Barnes (standing; third from left), ca. 1923, Dallas, Texas

	 So although Wesley bragged that he was the “second Walter Johnson,” so 
far no evidence of  his prowess on the pitcher’s mound has been uncovered—at 
least, not in brittle old editions of  The Wynnewood Gazette strewn on tables and 
shelves in the dusty back storeroom of  that publication, and not in The History 
of  Wynnewood, which is available for purchase at the town’s library. There 
also is no mention of  his play in Glory Days of  Summer: A History of  Baseball in 
Oklahoma.38 

	 Even if Wesley exaggerated his baseball success in Wynnewood, he 
wasn’t exaggerating that his time in Wynnewood changed his life. During his 
brief high school career there, he met young Edna Mollie Crawford. Wesley, 
who as a widower in his 80s still prided himself on being “quite the ladies’ 
man,” was quick to point out that lots of other girls besides Edna desired 
him. (In fact, decades later Wesley revealed that a guest at the Paoli hotel, 
an older woman whose husband traveled, “gave [Wesley] his manhood.”39) 
Despite being “popular with all the girls…up in Wynnewood,” he let Edna 
catch him. Over 60 years later, he still called Edna “the truest woman” he had 
ever known.40 
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Edna Mollie Crawford

The Crawford Family Story: James Crawford (c. 1785–1839)

	 Like Wesley Barnes, for Edna Crawford, loss, deprivation and hardship 
were woven into her family story. Edna’s great-grandfather, James Crawford, 
had settled in Perry County, Alabama, between 1820 and 1830 with his wife 
Nancy, the daughter of Revolutionary War soldier James McCarter.41 James 
Crawford died in 1839, and in 1848 (with probate still pending), the estate was 
valued at $24,991.20, equal to over $750,000 in today’s dollars. 

William Curtis Crawford (c. 1823-c.1863) 

	 William Curtis Crawford, Edna’s grandfather, received $1,141.33 
(equivalent to almost $35,000 today) from his father’s estate.42 In March 1862, 
when he was 39 years old, William volunteered to serve in the Perry County 
militia, also known as the Wyatt Guards. The militia was ordered to Mobile 
for 90 days of service “to fill in part the late requisition by the Governor of 
Alabama for troops for coast defence [sic].”43 After that, William C. Crawford 
disappears from the records searched, possibly felled by combat or disease. 
His wife Margaret Jane Ellis likewise vanishes before the 1870 census, 
which shows the couple’s four sons, separated and living with relatives and 
neighbors.44 
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Hamilton Moore Crawford (1861–1952) 

	 Their youngest child, Hamilton Moore Crawford, was born 17 November 
1861.45 Only four months old when his father enlisted, he was an orphan by age 
nine. When Nancy Crawford died on 12 March, 1872, she left a will, and when 
her estate was settled, Hamilton, described as one of the four sons of “William 
Crawford, dec’d” and as “a minor about 10 years old” was bequeathed a 1/4th 
share of his father’s 1/12th share. This diluted inheritance amounted, when 
Nancy Crawford’s land was sold, to $26.72 (about $525 in today’s dollars) for 
Hamilton, left in the care of a local attorney named as his guardian.46 

Death Certificate of Hamilton Moore Crawford

	 In 1880, 18 year old Hamilton was still in Perry County, living with an 
older cousin and working as a farmhand.47 At some point before 1890, he 
headed to Texas, possibly in a wagon train of other Alabamans heading 
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west.48 In Bonham, Fannin County, Texas, 29-year old Hamilton married 
16-year old Susan “Susie” Ellafare Hughes on 5 December 1890.49 Census 
records consistently describe Susie as a Texan, possibly born near Bonham 
on 17 October 1874. Other documents, including Susie’s death certificate, 
indicate she was born in Alabama.50

	 According to recently discovered family records, the Crawford family 
arrived in Chickasaw Nation, Indian Territory, in 1895, a few years before 
the Barnes family. Edna Mollie, born 21 January 1900, was four months 
old (and listed as “Mollie E.”) when the Territory Census was taken.51,52 In 
the 1910 census, Hamilton Crawford and family are settled in Wynnewood, 
Oklahoma.53 In Wynnewood, Edna and her sister Lucy sold eggs from 
their farm to the kitchen at the Eskridge Hotel.54 Enrollment records for the 
Crawford children verify that Edna attended school in Wynnewood.55 

Wesley and Edna Crawford

	 Barnes family records list the wedding date of Wesley Barnes and 
Edna Crawford as Friday, 14 September 1917, but subsequent investigation 
showed this information to be one of two intriguing lies the couple told. An 
announcement that a marriage license had been issued was published in The 
Daily Ardmoreite on Monday, 17 September 1917.56 The license was actually 
issued on Saturday, 15 September, but preacher R. E. L. Morgan of Ardmore’s 
M.E. (Methodist Episcopal) Church South did not perform the ceremony 
until Monday. The marriage license document itself reveals the second lie: 
Edna swore she was 18, but she was only 17.57 Almost a century later, the 
family still speculates: why the lies? 

	 The Daily Ardmoreite for that weekend fuels one hypothesis. The United 
States entered World War I in April of 1917; Wesley registered for the draft 
that June.58 A big “Carter [County] Free Fair” opened on 15 September.59 In 
our highly speculative version of events, the couple—knowing Wesley’s call-
up to service is imminent—decides to elope; they cannot wait a few months 
until Edna is 18, because by then he might be halfway around the world, in 
the midst of the fighting. The couple is drawn to a fortuitous local event, the 
county fair, as an affordable honeymoon. 

	 Perhaps their original intention was to marry on Friday before spending 
the weekend at the fair. Perhaps the County Clerk’s offices were closed, or 
swamped with other would-be honeymooners. For whatever reason, they 
could not obtain their license until Saturday, and by the time they found 
Pastor Morgan on Monday, the damage was done. How, in 1917, could a 
young girl with a good reputation admit to spending a weekend with a man 
before marriage? (There is also the less romantic, but logical, possibility that 
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her parents simply objected and the couple eloped without much forethought, 
hence the difficulty getting the license on Friday.)

	 After marrying Edna, Wesley was not drafted immediately, and he needed 
a job. He had attended Oklahoma State Teachers College at Edmond for about 
eight weeks, and, by his own account, had a certificate to teach, but his career 
(as a substitute) didn’t last long—two weeks. He started working in Ardmore 
at the Wells Fargo and American Express Co. as a billing clerk; his duties 
included emptying valuables from the trains and putting them in the safe. 
But the first day on his new job, disaster almost struck when he took a bag 
intended for the First National Bank out and left it on top of the safe. Luckily, 
the Express Master from a train going the other way stopped and picked the 
bag up and brought it back. The company never knew, and later Wesley found 
out the bag had contained $20,000 ($377,358 in 2015 dollars).60

	 When Wesley was drafted early in 1918, he expected to be sent “Over 
There.” His version of his time in service was this: an IQ test given to 1,000 
draftees pinpointed him as officer material, and he was assigned to the 
Headquarters Company attached to the Rainbow Division of the 57th U.S. 
Infantry. He soon made Corporal and helped drill new recruits. 

	 Edna followed him to Camp Logan in Houston, and the newlyweds 
were allowed to live in an apartment near the base. She got a job at a nearby 
department store. He was in officer’s training school when the Armistice was 
signed on 11 November 1918.61 He neglected to mention (or did not know) this 
part of the story: Camp Logan, already the site of a notorious 1917 race riot, 
was the locus of an extremely deadly outbreak of the 1918 pandemic Spanish 
Flu.62 For Wesley, who never made it to the Ardennes Forest, the virus was 
more of a real danger than “the Hun.” In fact, he may have been “demobbed” 
early, only seven months after enlistment, because of this flu outbreak. 

	 Whatever the reason—Armistice or epidemic—Wesley was discharged 
on 29 December 1918 and received $60 ($952 in 2015 dollars) and a ticket 
home to Ardmore.63 Wesley’s Honorable Discharge describes the 22-year old 
as 5’6”, with blue eyes, light hair, and a “ruddy complexion.”64 After he and 
Edna moved to Wilburton, Oklahoma so he could find work, their daughter, 
Margaret Sue, was born 6 May 1919.65  With the responsibilities of  parenthood 
looming, Wesley didn’t stay long in Wilburton—just long enough to play a little 
baseball for the city team, work a short while for the Rock Island Line, and buy 
his first Ford, a “Tin Lizzy” Model T that cost $500 ($6,944 in 2015 dollars).

	 Soon, however, he sold the car and moved his family back to Ardmore.  
On 1 December 1919, he went on the payroll of the Gulf, Colorado and Santa 
Fe (later Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe) Railroad. He stayed with Santa Fe 
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almost five more decades. In Ardmore, Wesley reportedly bought a home 
using World War I Victory Bonds.66 Property records to support this claim 
have not yet been unearthed, but there is proof the couple moved in 1920, 
because in that year’s census, taken in January, Wesley, Edna, and eight-
month old Margaret were living with Wesley’s parents at 1215 Hargrove 
Street NW. The Ardmore City Directory from later that year shows Wesley and 
Edna now a mile away at 129 G Street NW.67 Wesley played semi-pro baseball 
in the Texas-Oklahoma League, still “Walter Johnson the second”—at least, 
according to him.68 The family kept growing as Edna gave birth to a second 
daughter, Betty Jo, on 31 July 1921.69 

From Ardmore to Dallas

	 In 1922, following the recession of 1920–1921, Wesley was given the choice 
of transferring to Texas, or losing his job.70 Dallas seemed modern, bustling, 
prosperous, and—compared to Oklahoma—cosmopolitan. In Dallas, as the 
Magnolia Building kept going up, up, up, it may have seemed that even the 
sky was not the limit. 

	 Still, their new life did not provide protection from tragedy. The Wynnewood 
Gazette announced: “Returning [in May 1922] only recently from a visit to her 
children in Texas and apparently well, the death of Mrs. H. M. Crawford was 
a shock to the community.”71 Susie’s sudden death, supposedly from diabetes, 
left a lasting impact on Edna. According to Margaret, Edna was forever-after 
“afraid of diabetes.”72 Susie’s death certificate lists “Uremic Poison,” a blanket 
term for kidney failure, as her cause of death, but diabetes may have been the 
underlying cause.73 Hamilton Crawford had his wife’s headstone inscribed, 
“Until we meet again.”74

	 The Barnes family began to flourish in Dallas. Wesley claimed his 
baseball prowess led an industrial league team to a city championship in 
1923.75 Searching the Dallas Morning News archives for descriptions of Wesley’s 
skill on the pitcher’s mound was fruitless, but one picture of Wesley’s baseball 
team exists. Wesley’s teammates face the camera, while Wesley, standing 
in the center, is gazing with determination off to his left, as if focused on a 
distant horizon. When his own baseball career inevitably ended, his love for 
the game didn’t. He spent many warm evenings playing catch in the front 
yard with his two young daughters. 

	 The family moved several times in the 1920s, but always stayed in North 
Oak Cliff. They went from 799 W. Brooklyn Street in 1923, to 609 Comal 
Avenue in 1924, to 720 N. Lancaster Avenue in 1927, to 802 S. Windomere in 
1928.76 It is probably in front of one of these houses that young Margaret and 
Betty Jo were photographed posing in a patriotic salute. 
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Margaret and Betty in front of the family home.

	 On 16 October 1926, death struck again when Wesley’s father, B.F. 
Barnes, “succumb[ed to] fever.”77 Wesley never mentioned his father’s death 
when talking about his own life; B.F.’s widow, Alice, did not even know his 
parents’ names for his funeral record.78 Finally free from a reportedly forced 
union, Alice also moved to Dallas, where she lived for 30 more years.79

	 The 1930 census shows the family still on South Windomere. Wesley’s 
occupation appears as a bookkeeper for the railroad, while Edna’s says 
“saleslady” for boys’ clothes; according to the family, she worked downtown 
in the Sanger Brothers store.80 Wesley was always proud of his success as a 
provider, especially during the Depression, but his children believed that it was 
their mother, Edna, who kept the family afloat. She reined in free-spending 
Wesley, hiding money where he couldn’t find it. Her frugality was the stuff of 
family legend. She bought her children good quality clothing, but returned it, 
worn, the next year to exchange for new. She typically avoided her own store, 
Sanger Brothers; it was easier to take year-old clothing back to E. M. Kahn.81 

	 In her late 80s, Margaret reported that Edna gave her two sterling pieces 
of advice: a woman should keep her money separate from her husband’s, and 
she should buy “one good suit.”82 Both Margaret and Betty Jo attended Sunset 
High School during the mid-to-late 1930s. By 1936, Wesley had moved his 
family to 819 N. Edgefield.83 Margaret graduated in 1936 after distinguishing 
herself academically; the 1936 Sundial yearbook details a long list of 
accomplishments.84 Her widowed grandfather Hamilton Crawford attended 
her graduation. A yellowed newspaper clipping describing his visit to Texas 
for the ceremony states she was elected to the National Honor Society and 
received a scholarship to Southern Methodist University.85 
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	 In July 1936, Margaret celebrated her graduation by taking what a 
headline from The Dallas Morning News called an “Extensive Trip” with her 
sister. The girls’ month-long itinerary included Philadelphia, Atlantic City, 
New York, Washington, Niagara Falls, Detroit, and Chicago. As a send-off, 
the girls “were honored…with a luncheon at the Baker Hotel.”86 The Baker, 
with its famous Crystal Ballroom and Peacock Terrace, was no doubt a far cry 
from the Oklahoma “hotels” Wesley’s father had run.87

	 Wesley and Edna’s only son, John Wesley II, or “Johnny,” arrived on 12 
January 1938.88 In 1939, the Barnes family moved a few blocks away to a “nice 
brick house” at 823 Stewart Drive, near Kidd Springs Park.89 

	 In June 1939, Betty Jo graduated from Sunset High School. Although her 
scholastic accomplishments did not match her older sister’s, she could boast 
her own long list in the Sundial—she lettered three years in volleyball and was 
captain of a long-forgotten sport called tennikoit, played by hurling a circular 
rubber ring over a net.90 In August 1939, Wesley and Edna proudly announced 
Margaret’s engagement to Charles William “Bill” Bauman.91 Bill’s father, C. 
Z. Bauman, was a prominent grocer in Oak Cliff.92 That fall, a flurry of Dallas 
Morning News articles heralded the upcoming nuptials; one particularly long-
winded headline informed the reader of a “Linen Shower to Compliment 
Miss Barnes: Miss Warrington and Her Mother Will Entertain.”93 On 22 
September 1939, Margaret married Bill at her parents’ home: “Given in 
marriage by her father, the bride wore an ivory satin gown designed with a 
sweetheart neckline, leg of mutton sleeves, and a full skirt flaring into a short 
train. Her veil of illusion was attached to a pleated coronet trimmed with 
orange blossoms. She wore a single strand of pearls, and her flowers were 
gardenias, stephanotis and white roses.”94 

	 By the time the census-taker arrived on Stewart Drive to collect 1940’s 
data, life, in Wesley’s words, was “swell.”95 Wesley’s yearly salary of $1,800, a 
modest $31,034 in 2015 dollars, certainly was not the highest on the block—
Lin Gower, the Internal Revenue Agent living next door, had that distinction, 
bringing home almost $4,600 a year, equivalent to $79,310 in 2015.96 

	 On 13 September 1941, Betty Jo married Leonard Monroe Hill. Like her 
older sister, Betty Jo was fêted with a long list of pre-wedding showers and 
parties. Also like Margaret, Betty Jo married at home, dressed in a gown 
described word-for-word like her sister’s two years before (a hand-me-down 
gown would likely have appealed to their frugal mother). “The rites were 
read before the mantel, which was banked with ferns and lighted with white 
candles. Two large baskets of white gladioli stood at the side of the fireplace” 
and “pink roses decorated the reception table.”97 
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	 During World War II, both sons-in-law would serve in heavy combat, 
and only one would return.98 The lessons of the family’s ancestors, however, 
were those of resiliency, of overcoming obstacles. In the later days of WWII, 
Margaret got a job at the Magnolia Oil Company and Johnny still remembers 
riding the bus, crossing the Commerce Street viaduct to Dallas to eat lunch 
with his sister. Downtown was a whirlwind of restaurants, stores, banks, 
theaters, and hotels, all under the steady gaze of the flying horse, which, like 
the Barnes family, seemed always to be rising, rising.99

	 Edna Mollie Crawford Barnes, age 58, died on 5 November 1958 in Dallas, 
Texas, of ovarian cancer. John Wesley Barnes, age 90, died on 25 December 
1986 in Duncanville, Texas, of uremia and renal arteriolar nephrosclerosis. 
They are buried side-by-side in the mausoleum at Laurel Land Cemetery, 
Dallas, Texas.100
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A Slave Pioneer in Dallas County Texas:
Tracing Polly’s Life from Slavery to Freedom

2015 DGS Writing Contest Second Prize Winner

by RL Canady

“Frances Sims Daniel (1790–1853) arrived in North Texas 
on February 2, 1849…. After the death of  her husband, Reverend 
John M. Daniel (1790–1848), Mrs. Daniel began the long trek from 
Tuscaloosa, Alabama, to Texas together with eight of  her children, 
slaves and relatives, making a party of  31. The journey ended with 
the little band’s decision to camp on the site near what is now the 
SMU campus. Soon the Daniel homestead had developed into a 
settlement of  rough-logged houses, roofed with boards and floored 
with puncheons.”—William Harper Daniel, “Frances (Sims) 
Daniel,” Proud Heritage III: Pioneer Families of  Dallas County (Dallas, 
Tex.: Dallas County Pioneer Association, c 2002), pp. 26-7.

The 1850 slave schedule for Frances Daniel shows a list of  14 slaves; 
however, it only contains descriptions of  the slaves in terms of  age, sex 

and color but no given names of  slaves are listed.1 In 1853 Frances became ill 
and died suddenly. As evidenced by a document sent to the Chief  Justice of  the 
Dallas County Court on 1 January 1855, two men were appointed by that court 
to “…partition the negroes belonging to the estate of  Frances Daniel….” This 
document includes a “Statement of  Distribution” that names the slaves and 
their value and to whom they were distributed. Among these slaves is a female 
named Polly, who is assigned to Francis [Frank] R. Daniel, the youngest son 
of  Frances Daniel.2 The objective of  this article is to show how Polly’s identity 
was proven and to tell her life history. 

By unraveling slave schedules, researching names, and applying all of  the 
principles of  genealogy proof  standards, along with some other innovative 
techniques, an account of  Polly’s life begins to develop.  The analysis of  the 
genealogical data brought forth a biographical and historical narrative sketch 
of  her life. It should be noted that in this particular case, slaves adopted the 
surname from Frances Daniel: however, slaves are distinguished from their 
white slaveholder name by the letter “s” which is added to the end of  the 
surname of  the slaves.
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Document sent to Chief  Justice of  the Dallas County Court, 1 January 1885
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The Slave Is Polly Daniels.

Following the evidence trail, it appears that Polly was born in Tuscaloosa, 
Alabama, about 1838 to one of  the female household slaves owned by John 
and Frances [Simms] Daniel. The 1840 census for the Daniel household lists 
only two slaves: one female aged between 36 and 55 and one slave girl under 
10 who is assumed to be Polly.3 This is consistent with information reported 
in subsequent censuses, listing her age and birth place as Alabama. Polly’s 
mother is most probably one of  the female slaves listed in the 1812 will written 
by Frances’s father, William Simms, in Tennessee:

 “I do leave unto my Daughter Frances Simms, three Negros Kitty, 
Rose and Frank also a colt, saddle and bridle also a walnut chest and 
at my said Daughters death I give said Negros and their increase to 
her lawful spouse.”4

 Frances Sims [Simms] married John M. Daniel in Maury County, 
Tennessee, on 11 July 18165 probably not too long after the death of  William 
Simms. The 1820 census of  Maury County shows that John M. Daniel had 
only two slaves in his household, both female with one aged 14 to 26 and one 
aged 26 to 45.6 Most probably these were Kitty and Rose, and Frances most 
likely took the younger one with her to her new home in Alabama.

Polly’s life as a young slave is far from what is considered as normal. Her 
childhood was stolen by enslavement and slave rules that trained children from 
an early age to work in the fields and other job tasks on the slave farms and in 
the slave quarters.7 From sparse documents, we get a glimpse of  her labor and 
life as a slave. Although talk of  abolition and freedom was in the air during her 
early life, the path of  freedom and her aspirations would be long and arduous 
before any change. 

Gone to Texas

Polly was about 10 years old and one of  the slaves who made the 1849 
wagon train trip to Texas. Frances Daniel and her family first built on land in 
the area now known as Highland Park/University Park, which is now the home 
of  Southern Methodist University. However, a few years later this homestead 
was abandoned because the water well dried up. Land was purchased for a 
new home that was built with “Turtle Creek on the West, Lovers Lane on the 
North, Haynie Avenue on the South and roughly Greenville Avenue or Central 
Expressway on the East.”8 It was there that a large house was built with several 
small houses on the land for family members and the slaves. 

Work was plentiful for all during late 1840s and 1850s of  the Dallas 
settlement’s construction. Chores and labor tasks increased for Polly into areas 
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of  work in which she became skillful and proficient enough to allow her skills 
to be leased out to other settlers in need of  laborers. During the period of  1850 
to 1854 Polly was regularly leased for work in homes of  other white settlers and 
farmers for monthly fees that went to the slaveholder.9 The work experiences 
of  nurturing and caring for slave quarters children or as a mid-wife assistant as 
well as experiences from all of  the other tasks engendered vital qualities that 
would play an important part for forming her own family in the future. Caring 
for others would be a trait that would be seen in later descendants. 

On 29 October 1853 the slaveholder Frances Daniel died,10 and subse
quently a document was drawn up listing all of  the chattel property which 
included slaves. All slaves were listed by names and surviving family members 
and benefactors to whom they were distributed. Polly, at about 15 years old, 
was distributed to Francis R. Daniel, Frances Daniel’s youngest son, along 
with another slave named “Wash.”11 From this point we try to follow the 
slaveholder and his documented records to know where the slave is and his 
and her experiences.

On the 1855 Dallas County tax roll, Francis R. Daniel is listed as living in 
precinct 1 of  Dallas County, Texas, and owning two slaves valued at $1300 and 
two horses valued at $100.12 Polly was about 16 years old at the time. The 1859 
Dallas County tax roll was the last showing Francis as a slave owner.13

Jumping the Broom

Polly didn’t wait for change to come before starting her family. Overcoming 
the darkest of  human treatment to pursue her personal goals and aspirations 
was at hand at about age 18. Polly met her nearby neighbor and formed a 
relationship which led to marriage.

Polly’s marriage to Giles Armstrong took place prior to the Emancipation 
Proclamation. She was married in 1857 according to family tradition; however, 
the marriage was not recognized as being legal by the state because of  laws that 
prevented slave marriages being recorded as legal documents.14 The traditional 
marriages of  slaves included a ceremony in a brush arbor church with a slave 
preacher giving words of  divine providence in bringing together the two in the 
sight of  God. The ceremony concludes by the sealing of  the matrimony in a 
tradition called “Jumping the Broom,” as opposed to other cultural tradition 
of  sealing with a kiss.15 

Three years later, the 1860 census lists Frank R. Daniel as living in Precinct 
1 of  Dallas County.16 The1860 Federal Slave schedule lists Francis as slave 
holder in Precinct 1 with 3 slaves. One of  the slaves is a 21 year old female and 
a 2 year old son that is consistent with the age progression related for her first 
child in later censuses.17 

JUNETEENTH. On June 19 ("Juneteenth"), 1865, Union general 
Gordon Granger arrived in Galveston and issued General Order 
Number 3, which read in part, "The people of  Texas are informed 
that, in accordance with a proclamation from the Executive of  the 
United States, all slaves are free. This involves an absolute equality 
of  personal rights and rights of  property between former masters 
and slaves, and the connection heretofore existing between them 
becomes that between employer and hired labor." The tidings 
of  freedom reached the approximately 250,000 slaves in Texas 
gradually as individual plantation owners informed their slaves 
over the months following the end of  the war.
(https://tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/lkj01: accessed 2 June 2016)
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Freedom Comes

Finally things were moving in a direction where Polly and her family could 
develop to their full potential. With a fledging new family, life was changing 
rapidly and so were their rights. During the years after the emancipation and the 
passing of  the 14th amendment, freed slaves were allowed to purchase land.18 
Polly and Giles made several purchases from 1867 to 1885 to an amount of  278 
acres and three town lots in the Alpha community.19 Newspaper articles show 
their involvement in their community especially with the social affairs of  older 
blacks, who continued to suffer under unfair sharecropper agreements, and 
with other social functions in Alpha..20 Polly’s encouragement for goals above 
mere excellence to continued higher human achievement proved worthwhile 
for the Alpha Community and her children.21 

1870 Federal census lists Polly as 32 years of  age, married to Giles 
Armstrong, 34, living in precinct 4 of  Dallas County on a farm worth $300. 
The household is listed as: Giles Armstrong 34 yrs. old (head); Polly Armstrong 
32 yrs. old (wife); Pleasant Armstrong 11yrs. old (son); Amanda Armstrong 
9 yrs. old (daughter); Samuel Walter Armstrong, 7 yrs. old (son); Polly Anna 
Armstrong, 4 yrs. old (daughter).22

In 1880, Polly is 42 years old and most of  her family has weathered the 
sicknesses related with childhood and lived to becoming adults. Although Giles 
and Polly were illiterate, their three older children were literate.23 In the late 
1880s, typhoid fever and malaria were prevalent in north Texas and took the 
life of  many of  its residents. The tragedy struck in Polly’s family and resulted 
in the death of  her oldest son named Pleasant in 1887.24 During this same time 
period when Polly lost a son, Pleasant’s wife gave birth to the family’s first 
grandchild. The newborn was given the name Eugenia.25
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By 1890 Polly had seen or was part of  much of  America’s history. She 
had experienced the migration of  settlers moving west into the frontier, a time 
when the horse and wagon was the main form of  transportation, the removal of  
Native Americans from territorial lands, she witnessed the division of  a nation 
and the destruction of  the civil war, and she had experienced slavery and the 
Emancipation of  African Americans from the bondage of  enslavement. Polly 
also lived to see her son graduate from college and return to Alpha to teach 
others before entering medical school. Polly died while Samuel was away in 
medical college at Nashville, Tennessee. Polly had been married to Giles for 
34 years when she died 5 Apr 1891.26 Giles died 14 August 1894 and both are 
buried at White Rock Garden of  Memories Cemetery in Dallas, Texas. Polly’s 
headstone exists in good form till this day, but Giles headstone is missing, 
leaving only the base.27

Polly Ann Daniels-Armstrong headstone.

Nearing fifty years after Polly and Giles died, Fannie Smith Johnston, the 
granddaughter of  Frances Daniel died in 1940. An article in the Dallas Morning 
News gave reference to Polly and Giles as once working as servants who cared 
for her mother Margaret Smith and helped to administer and manage the farm 
where they lived. Their son, Dr. Sam Armstrong, was among the first visitors 
at Fannie’s home after her death.28 

The estate of Polly and Giles was divided between Eugenia, Samuel,      
and Polly Anna.29 The legacy of the family would be carried on in the lives of 
their descendants.
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The Descendant Family Grouping

Pleasant Armstrong: The oldest of Polly and Giles’s children was born in 
slavery about 1858/9 in Dallas, Texas, and worked with his father, Giles, as a 
farmer.30 Pleasant died at an early age of 29, on 2 May 1887 and analysis of  
funeral home records show payments made in advance of his death which 
indicates an illness considered at the time terminal.31 Pleasant was survived by 
his wife, Alice Keller, a daughter of Henry Keller. She was born in Tennessee 
about 1868.32 They had only one child, Eugenia. Alice later married Albert W. 
Patterson.33

 Eugenia was born 9 Oct 1886 and died 17 Jan 1911.34 On August 31, 1907, 
she married James Anderson.35 James Anderson was born 1 May 1881 and 
died 16 Mar 1917.36 They had no children.

Amanda “Maud” Armstrong: Born in 1861, she was the second child of  
Polly and Giles.37 Amanda, nicknamed as Maud, was born in slavery and never 
married. She became an extension of  her mother’s duties and involvement 
with the Alpha community as well as the big sister for the family. Amanda 
probably died 14 May 1898 in Dallas.38 Her illness was attended by Dr. John 
Anderson,39 a friend of  the family whose wife would be a recipient for the 
naming of  one of  Dallas public schools, Pearl C. Anderson Middle School.40 
Amanda Armstrong is believed to be buried at White Rock Garden of  Memories 
Cemetery in Dallas. There is no existing headstone listing her name.41

Samuel Walter Armstrong: Polly’s third child was born 7 Feb 186342 in 
Dallas and attended public school in the Alpha community. After graduation, 
he attended Prairie View College.43 Samuel graduated from Prairie View 
College with such high honors that he was asked to teach at various schools 
in Texas prior to graduation. His choice was the high school in Jacksonville, 
Texas. Samuel later continued his teaching profession at the Dallas school 
from which he graduated. At a time of  separate but equal laws, separation 
of  the races demanded that black professionals attend to the medical needs 
of  their community and the nation. Samuel heeded the call and the need 
by relinquishing his teaching career for medical school. He enrolled at the 
prestigious Meharry Medical College in Nashville Tennessee during 1891 and 
graduated in 1895.44 Dr. Samuel W. Armstrong set up a clinical practice on the 
corner of  Elm and Akard Streets in Dallas and worked with nursing homes 
and hospitals in Dallas County. Dr. Armstrong, recognized by the AMA as a 
highly certified M.D. and physician, became one of  the first African American 
medical examiners for the county of  Dallas.45 

Dr. Armstrong first married Matilda Reed who was born about 1871 and 
died 25 Nov 1904.46 He later married Georgia Mae Armstrong, whose father was 
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Robert Armstrong of Waxahachie, in 1906.47 Georgia was born 7 March 1880 
in Waxahachie and died 29 Apr 1942 in Dallas.48 Dr. Samuel W. Armstrong 
apparently had no children and died in Dallas on 14 May 1942 with a burial at 
White Rock Garden of Memories Cemetery Dallas.49 Dr. Armstrong’s funeral 
was attended by a host of medical professionals, community organizers, and 
notables of all races in Dallas County and from throughout the state.50 Even 
though born in slavery, Samuel W. Armstrong rose above the adversities and 
barriers of inequality and racism to an esteemed position as a professional and 
public servant caring for the ill many times without pay. 

Polly Anna Armstrong: Born about 1866, Polly Anna was the fourth 
child of Polly and Giles.51 She was the only child of the siblings born free. 
Polly Anna was married three times. Her first marriage was to J.W. Blackwell 
on 09 Dec 1887.52 Polly and J.W. had three children in their marriage. With 
the loss of the 1890 Federal census and no listing of birth statistics found 
in Texas records, the 1900 census becomes the first source for the children’s 
information. These three children were enumerated in the household of her 
second husband, William Green: Bell Blackwell, 9 year old stepdaughter, 
Mable Blackwell, 8 year old stepdaughter, and Walter Blackwell, 6 year old 
stepson.53 J.W. is assumed to have died during the period between 1894, birth 
year of Polly’s last child by Blackwell, and 1898, her marriage to William 
Green. No records of his death were found. 

Anna was married in 1898 to William Green54 who was born in 1874.58 
This marriage produced a son named Emil, [probably misspelled “Iner” on 
the1900 census], born in 1899 in Dallas,55 and a son Cornell, born in 1901 in 
Texas and died 1985 in Los Angeles, California.56 Annie Green is found on the 
1910 census living alone with her five children, all with the Green surname: 
Ina May, 18, Mabel, 17, Walter, 15, Emil, 8, and Cornell, 7.57 Ina May is most 
probably the daughter named Bell in the 1900 census. All of Polly Anna’s 
children adopted the Green surname through their adult lives. Anna’s last 
marriage was in 1944 when she married Charles Johnson. This marriage came 
late in both of their lives and Charles died at an undetermined date before Polly 
Anna’s death. 

Conclusion

The research of Polly Daniels-Armstrong gives evidence that joins that 
part of her life as an unknown slave with her life as a free person. She was a 
person who endured the harsh elements of frontier life. She was also a person 
with values, belief, and aspiration. Although not overly wealthy, she provided 
the family with a good foundation needed to realize their full potential as 
citizens in a time of racial hostility. Polly’s involvements and encouragement 
during bad times in her home, as well as the community of Alpha, exemplifies 
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her moral character. Polly was more than just a slave who came along. Polly is 
buried amidst her family at White Rock Garden of Memories Cemetery in the 
former community of Alpha, which is now northwest Dallas (Addison area). 
Polly’s life from slavery to freedom is no longer unknown, but takes its place 
with honor and respect as a pioneer and early settler.

Proof Notes

While the above story is simple and mostly straightforward, behind the 
scenes presents a different view. Slave research requires several different 
elements in its approach to connecting families and collateral relatives. The 
analysis of documents included assembling, comparing and correlating 
of documents in agreement to results in positive proof of an individual’s 
identification. Slave research includes a process of deductive reasoning in 
forming a logical conclusion for identifying persons and their ages. All of 
the elements of slave research and genealogical proof standards, guidelines, 
methodological analysis, steps and techniques have been utilized to establish 
sound and positive identification involving research for Polly. Original and 
derivative sources (slave schedules, which list only ages and gender; probate 
records; work lease bills; slave distribution lists; church records; funeral home 
records; newspaper articles; census records; land deeds; marriage and death 
certificates) were used to tie a slave with an owner or land or with relatives or 
to a location. The tie of the stated name to a desired age to a desired location 
to a document, which must be made in a manner that all agree, is the ultimate 
result that is sought for in this case. The census records report a given name 
(first name) that agrees with the distribution list of first names of the slaves 
to be distributed from the probate record. The age was compared and agrees 
on all documents. The age agrees on all descending censuses from 1880 to 
the1850 slave schedule (line36) which also agrees with the 1840 census listing 
of age and location of birth. The next two documents are the ultimate finds for 
positive proof and ties in the research. In the first document, the connection to 
the slaveholder is proven with a newspaper article reference to Polly Armstrong 
as a former slave servant of Frances Daniel’s daughter (see endnote 28). The 
final piece of proof comes in the death of Polly’s son. On his death certificate, 
Anna, the deceased younger sister (the informant) says, the person of death 
(Samuel Armstrong) mother’s maiden name was Polly Daniels (see endnote 
49). All of these items prove that Polly, the slave girl on the probate distribution 
list, is Polly Armstrong. Regardless of the complexities and difficulties in 
slave research, proper methods, analysis and innovative techniques resulted 
in concrete proof. The evidence is undeniable and provides solid proof in the 
identification of Polly. The evidence also makes the connection with Frances 
Daniel (slaveholder), and shows the character of Polly and her life’s experience 
as a slave. 
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A Note Concerning African American Genealogy

by Ari Wilkins

Slavery poses a variety of  challenges in African American research. 

•	 Before the Civil War, slaves were property. Consequentially, they were not 
given the benefit of  being recorded in official documents as a person or citizen.

•	 Most documents did not list a slave with a full name. Sometimes, only a first 
name was provided. Other times, tick marks based on gender and age range 
identified a particular slave. 

•	 With a majority of  slaves being illiterate, the recording of  information was 
left to members of  the slave holding family or employees. Consequently, re-
searching the slave holding family is imperative. 

It is a major accomplishment to be able to provide evidence of  a slave’s life. The 
complete documentation of  a slave’s life is a rarity. Building a case based on indirect 
evidence is standard in African American research.

About Ari Wilkins: Specializing in African American research, Ari Wilkins is a staff  
member in the Genealogy Division at Dallas Public Library. She is a faculty member 
at Samford University Institute of  Genealogical and Historical Research. Ms. Wilkins 
has lectured nationally and at many local genealogical societies. 
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A Case Study in Using DNA for DAR 
Membership: First Successful Application

 2016 DGS Writing Contest First Place Winner

[This entry was submitted as an advanced methodology and case study; so  
 according to the Contest Rules, it is not limited by geography.]

by Ray Harriot

This case study started when a black gentleman named William Herriott 
asked for help tracing his ancestors. All he knew was that he descended 

from a man named Henry Herriott who was first observed in South Carolina 
in 1870. Family lore indicated that Henry was a Caucasian who had married 
an American Indian. He provided a book, The Herriots: A Family of  Many 
Hues, written by his cousin, Sue M. Sumter Williams, which supported this 
marriage.1 He also provided a DNA sample to assist with the research.

While his DNA was being tested, I researched census records for his Henry 
Herriott of  South Carolina. Though there were several references to Henry, the 
results were not very encouraging, as Henry was not listed as Caucasian, but 
as either black or mulatto. A search of  census records prior to 1870 failed to 
identify any candidate suitable to be Henry.   The 1870 census lists Henry as 
a 32-year-old black male, and also indicates he could not read or write.1  The 
Herriotts indicates Henry was Caucasian, but makes no mention of  slavery.  
But because he was not found by name in census records before 1870 (slaves 
were not enumerated by name before that census), and he was illiterate (South 
Carolina law prohibited education of  slaves) we can make a supposition that 
he was a slave.

In 1870 Henry was living with his wife Sarah, and children Thomas, 
Beauregard, and Jackson. Sarah’s son Beauregard’s death certificate shows her 
surname as Jennings.2 Henry would marry again after Sarah’s death and have 
several more children. His second wife was Easter Taylor (her death certificate 
indicates her father was George Spann and, since she has two children with the 
last name of  Taylor, this name appeared to be from her first marriage).3

After this, I expected the DNA to be of  little benefit as it would most likely 
come back with African origin and little possibility of  further connections. 
However, when the DNA Y-Chromosome results arrived, I discovered there 
was a match in the Herriott Surname Project database – not only a match but a 
perfect 37 for 37 marker match with several people. This indicated that Henry 
Herriott was undoubtedly related to these individuals.4
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For those not familiar with Y-Chromosome DNA, it usually passes 
unchanged from male to male in the direct line. Occasionally there is a 
mutation, but generally only one every several generations.5 Thus, a perfect 
37 for 37 marker match indicated that Henry and these males had a common 
ancestor in the not so distant past. The most interesting fact, however, was that 
these individuals were Caucasian and descended from Robert LaRoche Heriot 
(aka Robert L. Heriot), a gentleman who owned a plantation where Henry 
Herriott lived.6

I contacted William and his cousin Sue to tell them the news. Sue indicated 
she had always suspected the scenario above might be the case. “But what 
about Henry’s wife, the American Indian?” she asked. I told her that I thought 
this bit of  family lore might be suspect as well. Although Native American 
Indians were enslaved in South Carolina, this practice had ended by the close 
of  the Revolutionary War,7 several generations before Henry had wed. Also, 
being a slave, Henry would not have been allowed to marry a free person.8  
What could we find about Henry’s wife?

Sue is a fourth generation female descendant of  Henry Herriott and his 
wife Sarah Jennings. She has the exact mitochondrial DNA as her great-
grandmother because mitochondrial DNA is passed unchanged from female 
to female from generation to generation.9 Sue had already had her DNA 
tested and provided me the certificate showing that her Haplogroup was L3 
(subclade L3d).10 This is distinctly African. There was no chance that her 
great-grandmother was American Indian.11

It could now be concluded that both William and Sue descended from 
Robert L. Heriot, a white plantation owner, and one of  Robert’s female slaves. 

Sue wanted to learn as much as she could about her newly-identified three 
times great-grandfather. Fortunately, his ancestry had been well documented.12 
Besides owning the plantation, he served as a Confederate officer in the Civil 
War.13 He came from a very prominent South Carolina family with Scottish 
roots. Robert’s grandfather, also named Robert Heriot, had come to South 
Carolina from Scotland in 1749.14 He subsequently married Polly Oldfield,15 
the wealthy daughter of  a plantation owner, and together they owned several 
plantations in Georgetown — the most notable being Hobcaw Barony.16

Robert Heriot had served in the French and Indian War17 and then was 
commissioned as an officer during the Revolutionary War.18 He served in 
various capacities and was eventually captured by the British during the siege 
of  Charleston.19 He was confined for over a year, during which his wife Polly 
managed the plantation.20 



Pegasus: Journal of  the Dallas Genealogical Society

38 Vol. 4, No. 1 (Awards Issue 2016)

Sue found this very interesting and decided she wanted to join the Daughters 
of  the American Revolution (DAR) based on Robert Heriot’s service. She 
submitted an application using the information I provided. We thought the 
application would easily be approved; after all, several of  Robert’s descendants 
had already been admitted.21 

The application was rejected. The DAR would not accept the linkage of  
Henry Herriott to Robert L. Heriot based solely on DNA.  

The DAR has very strict requirements on what information they will 
accept. The following is an example of  what they want:

“…acceptable evidence may include wills, bible records, church records, 
cemetery records, funeral notices, tombstone photographs, obituaries, deeds, 
census records, published books (if  well researched), etc.  Ideally, what you’re 
looking for is documentation to support each person’s birth date, place of  
birth, marriage date, place of  marriage, death date, place of  death, and child-
parent relationship.”22

 They have only recently begun looking at DNA evidence and only under 
very limited circumstances. 

“The DAR accepts Y-DNA evidence in support of  new member applications 
and supplemental applications. Y-DNA evidence submitted along with 
other documentation will be considered along with all of  the other source 
documentation provided to prove heritage. Y-DNA will not be considered as 
stand-alone proof  of  lineage because while it can be used as a tool point to a 
family, it cannot be used as absolute proof  for an individual.”23

Sue turned to me for help.

The Challenge 

Given that over fifty descendants had already been approved for DAR 
membership based on the patriot’s service, many having traced their lineages 
through his grandson Robert L. Heriot, this was really a four-part problem. In 
order to prove that Sue was a descendant of  Robert Heriot, the Revolutionary 
War patriot, we’d have to prove the following, see Figure 1, “Resolving the 
Genealogical Challenge”:

1.	 That Robert L. Heriot’s male descendant, Richard (Dick) Heriot, 
Donor #1, whose DNA was on file and matched the DNA provided by 
William Herriott, Donor #2, was connected to a female descendant, 
Mary Frances (Heriot) Coker, who was already a member of  the DAR. 
This would allow us to piggy-back on her application.
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2.	 That William Herriott, Donor #2, is a male descendant of  Henry 
Herriott. This would show that Henry Herriott had the same 
Y-Chromosome DNA as Robert L. Heriot.

3.	 That Sue M. Sumter Williams is also a descendant of  Henry Herriott. 
Because she cannot receive a Y-Chromosome from Henry, this must be 
proved with genealogical records.

4.	 That Henry Herriott is a descendant of  Robert L. Heriot. This proof  
was critical because the DAR had presented possible alternatives for 
his parentage in their initial rejection.

Documenting Donor #1’s Connection to an Approved DAR Member

We had an approved DAR application from Mary Frances (Coker) Heriot, 
a great-granddaughter of  Robert L. Heriot, the plantation owner.24 It not only 
showed her connection to him, but outlined his connection to the Revolutionary 
War ancestor, also named Robert Heriot. 

The plantation owner was the son of  John Oldfield Heriot and his wife 
Martha Kirkpatrick;25 John Oldfield Heriot is the son of  the Revolutionary 
War patriot.26 He had come to Sumter County from Georgetown around 1800 
along with his sister and her husband following the death of  his mother Polly 
Oldfield.27 His father had died in a tragic accident in 1792.28 It was here in 
Sumter that John O. Heriot established a plantation and raised a family. He 
was enumerated in the 1810,29 1820,30 and 183031 censuses.

Martha Kirkpatrick Heriot died in 1830, and John died the following year.32

John wrote a will prior to Martha’s death, which directed that his property 
be divided among his wife and children. At that time his eldest daughter Agnes 
was 21 years old and his eldest son Robert was 18. There were also five other 
children including several minors – Mary (16), Susan (14), John (12), Davison 
(11), and James (3). He also made particular reference to his “Mulatto woman 
named Sally” whom he referenced not only by name but by birth (May 1802); 
indicated that she was living with his brother Robert in Georgetown; directed 
she have light duties, i.e. not be a field hand; that his children care for her after 
his death; and that she eventually be emancipated.33 These details in his will 
indicate he had a very strong connection to Sally, and was most likely her father.

   John Heriot’s son Robert L. Heriot married Elizabeth Jane Rembert on 
12 November 1838. She was only 16 years old at the time, having been born 
on 21 December 1821. She was the daughter of  James English Rembert and 
Sarah George Martin, other successful plantation owners.34
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Sally in John Heriot’s Will

Their son Robert Heriot married as his second wife Caroline Chandler,35 
and they had several children among which were sons Joseph and George.36  
Joseph also had several children, among which was Dick Heriot, 38 a participant 
in the Herriott Surname DNA project, whose DNA matched Henry Herriott.  
George’s daughter Mary Frances39 was the lady who joined the DAR based on 
her 3rd great-grandfather’s Revolutionary War service.

This chain of  evidence conclusively proved that the plantation owner’s 
male descendant who provided the DNA sample was connected to a female 
descendant who was already a member of  the DAR, allowing us to piggy-back 
on her application.

Documenting Donor #2 as a Male Descendant of Henry Herriott

Donor #2, William Herriott, is a 2nd great-grandson of  Henry Herriott, 
via Henry’s son Ladson, who is listed as a son of  Henry and Sarah Herriott in 
the 1880 census for Spring Hill, Sumter County, South Carolina.40 Also listed 
is Rose Herriott, sister of  Ladson, and Sue’s great-grandmother. The entire 
family, including the parents, is listed as mulatto.

William’s grandfather was Ladson’s son Robert. The family is located in 
Providence, Sumter County, South Carolina in 1900.41 They are living next 
to Henry Herriott. They are still living in Providence in 1910 when Robert is 
eleven.42 Ladson Herriott died in 191643 and his wife and some children are 
located in 1920 in Concord, Sumter County, South Carolina.44 Son Robert 
Herriott and his wife Rebecca are located nearby.45 His wife’s full name was 
Irena Rebecca Young.46 Robert died in Washington, D.C. in 1970 and his wife 
Rebecca in 1965.47

Robert and Irena Herriott had a son Robert Herriott Jr. who was born on 
15 January 1921 in Sumter, South Carolina.48 Shortly thereafter, according 
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to family, the elder Robert Herriott changed the family’s surname to Harris 
and moved to Washington, D.C. Though this was not done legally, the name 
change was confirmed in later census records49 and death records.50 On 8 April 
1944 their son Robert Harris and his wife Anne Davis gave birth to Donor #2.51 
The donor legally changed his name from Harris back to Herriott in 1980.52

Despite the name changes, this proved the connection of  the male 
descendant to Henry Herriott and showed that Henry Herriott had the same 
Y-Chromosome DNA as Robert L. Heriot.

Documenting Sue Williams as Female Descendant of Henry Herriott

Sue, the DAR applicant, was the 2nd great-granddaughter of  Henry 
Herriott via his daughter Rosa Herriott already identified as a sister of  the 
Donor #2’s great-grandfather Ladson in the 1880 census.

The applicant’s great-grandmother Rosa Herriott married Joseph Sumter 
about 1883, and in 1900 they are living with their family in Sumter County, 
South Carolina, next to Rosa’s father Henry Herriott.53 The Sumters are 
still living there according to the 1910 census which includes the applicant’s 
grandmother Ida (Bonnie) Sumter who was born in 1905.54

Ida B. Sumter had a daughter also named Ida in 1921 with James Jefferson.55 
This Ida Jefferson born in 1921 is Sue’s mother and the applicant’s father was 
Perry Herrington.56 Sue’s grandmother Ida B. Sumter Jefferson died in South 
Carolina in 1927 at the age of  23.57 Sue was raised by her great-grandmother 
Rosa Herriott, the source of  the early family lore on Henry Herriott. 

This evidence proved both the applicant’s connection to Henry Herriott 
and to Donor #2.

Documenting Henry Herriott as a Descendant 
of Plantation Owner Robert L. Heriot

The DAR correctly stated that DNA only points to a family and not to an 
individual. Robert L. Heriot, the plantation owner, had several brothers and 
the DAR contended that one of  them may have been Henry’s father or perhaps 
Robert’s father had had a child by a slave and that slave could have fathered 
Henry. Either of  these scenarios would have resulted in Henry having a DNA 
match.

They suggested we find a birth certificate for Henry Herriott. Unfortunately, 
the births of  slaves were not recorded except in plantation logs, and these books 
were not known to exist for the Heriot plantation.  They also suggested finding 
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a death certificate for Henry; however, Henry Herriott died in 1914 and death 
certificates were not required in South Carolina until 1915.58 

They wondered if  Henry Herriott could be referenced in Robert’s will, 
but none could be located. It was a long shot at best anyway, as plantation 
owners usually didn’t openly confess to their liaisons with female slaves or 
their illegitimate offspring. Census records were other acceptable sources, 
but unfortunately, slaves are not listed by name in the 1850 and 1860 Slave 
Schedules. 

How to prove to the DAR that Henry Herriott was the son of  Robert L. 
Heriot when none of  the information they would normally prefer is available? 
We took a revolutionary (pun intended) approach: eliminate all of  the other 
possibilities for men who could be Henry’s father mentioned by the DAR and 
then indeed connect Henry to Robert.

The DAR indicated that one of  the biggest problems they were having was 
determining Henry Herriott’s age. They said it fluctuated such that he could 
have been born anywhere between 1838 and 1844.59 

We also found estate records of the plantation owner dated 1839-40 that 
list Henry, so he must have been born before that.60 Analysis of the data 
indicated that it is highly likely that Henry Herriott was born around 1839 
+/- one year. Determining the correct date would be critical to proving who 
Henry’s father was.

The year 1844 was derived from his tombstone, but this is clearly in error. 
If  Henry were born in 1844, in the 1870 census his calculated age would be 
26. But Henry has a 10-year-old child, which would mean he would have had 
to have been married and started having children at the age of  16. In addition, 
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the ages for his wife and children in 1870, are compatible with the ages in 
subsequent censuses, so one would assume that Henry’s age of  32 at his last 
birthday in that same census is accurate as well. Moreover, the tombstone is 
the only record where Henry would not have had the opportunity to provide 
the information himself… for obvious reasons.

Robert L. Heriot’s father John was eliminated early-on as Henry’s father, 
as he died in 1831, well before Henry could have been conceived. 

Could John Heriot have fathered a male slave who then fathered Henry? 
John Heriot’s will indicates that he likely fathered a daughter Sally by one of  
his slaves, directing that she be cared for and emancipated.61 An argument was 
made that if  he had fathered a son by one of  his slaves then he would have 
recognized him in the same way. Since he didn’t, the subsequent conclusion 
was that he had no more children with any of  his female slaves. 

Next came Robert L. Heriot’s male siblings as possibilities as Henry’s 
father. He had three – John (B: 1819), Davison (B: 1820), and James (B: 
1828).62 James can be eliminated as he died in 1833.63

With regard to the other siblings, John and Davison, it is very apparent 
that after his father’s death Robert L. Heriot maintained the plantation 
while his older sister Agnes took care of their minor siblings. When Agnes 
Heriot married Warren Burgess in 1834, her younger siblings went to live 
with her and her husband in Williamsburg, South Carolina. This can be 
shown by examining the 1840 and 1850 censuses and letters the siblings 
wrote to John Miller, executor of their father’s will, to obtain money from 
their brother Robert.64 

The letters also show that relations were not good between Robert and his 
siblings. There were several disputes over the management of  the plantation and 
distribution of  their father’s estate. Warren Burgess initiated legal proceedings 
against Robert L. Heriot in 1835 to force him to liquidate his father’s assets 
(plantation and slaves) to provide a promised marriage settlement to him and 
his wife and expenses for his siblings’ education and upbringing. They secured 
John B. Miller, an attorney and a co-executor of  John O. Heriot’s will, to act 
on their behalf  in the case against Robert.65

Later correspondence indicates that both John and Davison Heriot were 
away at college in Columbia, South Carolina, and Charlottesville, Virginia, 
during the years 1836 to 1840, the most likely years for Henry Herriott’s 
conception and birth.66
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Evidence suggests that if  any of  the male siblings had any slaves after their 
father’s estate was settled in 1840, they sold them. Only Robert L. Heriot was 
listed as a slave owner in the 1850 census slave schedule.67

All of  this documentation made the case that Robert L. Heriot’s male 
siblings were not located anywhere close to Robert L. Heriot’s plantation 
during the period when Henry Herriott was conceived. They were either living 
in Williamsburg or away at college. Therefore, they could not have been Henry 
Herriott’s father.

DAR Wants More

Despite this collection of evidence, the DAR wanted something that tied 
Henry Herriott to Robert L. Heriot by name. What new angles could be explored?

If  Henry Herriott was born around 1838, he was most likely living on 
Robert L. Heriot’s plantation in 1850. Could we prove it? Robert L. Heriot had 
72 slaves per the 1850 census slave schedule, 68 but these slaves are only listed 
by gender, ethnicity, and age. When I looked at the probability of  there being 
a slave of  the right gender, ethnicity, and age to be Henry on any random list 
of  slaves, it was zero. However, in checking Robert L. Heriot’s list there is one, 
which makes the probability very high that it is Henry.  What else might meet 
the DAR’s latest requirement?

First, after emancipation Henry chose the name Heriot as his surname. 
Usually, only slaves with a close connection to their owners chose to keep their 
owner’s name. The name morphed from Heriot to Herriott over the years as 
the former slaves, lacking in education, had little idea how it was originally 
spelled and spelled it as it sounded.
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Second, Henry Herriott named one of  his children Robert English 
Herriott.69 This adds credence to Henry Herriott belonging to Robert L. 
Heriot’s family. English was prominent as a surname in Robert L. Heriot’s 
wife’s family.70  In fact, she and Robert L. Heriot named a son James English 
Heriot.71 None of  Robert’s siblings had ties to the English family.

Third, from 1870 forward Robert L. Heriot and Henry Herriott lived 
proximate to each other. It is likely that Henry Herriott worked on Robert’s 
farm as a sharecropper. 

The final piece of  evidence came from the forced sale of  Robert L. Heriot’s 
two estates and all of  his slaves in 1840 to settle a lawsuit initiated by his 
siblings. Robert L. Heriot purchased one of  the estates himself  as well as one 
of  his slave families — that of  Henry and his wife Charlotte, who have a son 
Henry.72 

This is significant in that the during an accounting of  the estate in 1839–
1840, the infant Henry is not listed with this slave family, but rather in another 
section at the end of  the inventory where another slave is listed – Sally, the 
daughter of  Robert L. Heriot’s father.73 This section appears to be for special 
slaves and is a good indication that he, too, might be family. When coupled 
with the fact that Robert made sure to buy him and his slave family, this is very 
compelling evidence that this is Robert’s son, as DNA suggests. Most likely 
Charlotte is the mother.

In Conclusion

After almost a year, the DAR approved Sue’s membership. This was the 
first time Y-DNA had been used to successfully link a DAR applicant to a 
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patriot.74 I also don’t know of  any DAR application that required proving 
four different lines to make the case. This coupled with the use of  different 
documents and techniques such as probability, location, and name analysis 
makes it truly revolutionary.
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The Elusive Andrew Lyday, 1804 – 1849

2016 DGS Writing Contest Second Place Winner

by Jana Walker

A brick-wall ancestor named Andrew Lyday provided an opportunity to 
track down an elusive family member, one who had little information 

for him.  In the end, the hunt to find documentation for this ancestor was a 
challenging and rewarding search.

First Steps

Andrew Lyday is not featured in The Biographical Souvenir of  the State of  
Texas, but he is mentioned in a sketch of  his son-in-law, Robert Ward Lane: 

Robert W. Lane left his native State with his father’s family at the age 
of  eleven and came to Texas (1836).  He has lived in Bowie, Fannin 
and Hunt counties since coming here.  He was married the first time 
in October, 1854, to Nannie, daughter of  Andrew Lyday, one of  the first 
settlers of  Fannin county, Texas. 1

	 As one of  the first settlers of  Fannin County, Andrew is also found in John 
Avery’s book Fannin County Folks & Facts:

Indians and wild animals roamed the prairie when two brothers 
from Tennessee settled in Fannin County near the present town of  
Ladonia.  Isaac Lyday, born 1813 and Andrew Lyday 1804  – 1849 
realized that protection was necessary if  settlers were to survive the 
hardships of  Texas privation.  Together the brothers founded Fort 
Lyday, which served as a haven to hundreds of  pioneers who moved 
into the county in early days of  the Texas frontier.2

In the same book, the author writes about Andrew’s brother Isaac Lyday, 
Isaac’s wife, her parents, and the names and birth years of  Isaac’s children.  
But about Andrew Lyday, the writer says, “Little is known about Andrew.  His 
only child was Mary (1832  – 1847) and his wife is unknown.  Perhaps he was 
a widower when he came into the country.3

And, perhaps he was.  But he did not remain a widower, because he was 
father to more children, including Nancy Ann “Nannie” Lyday, who was the 
daughter of  Andrew and married Robert Ward Lane.4 Andrew may have been 
a widower when he came to Texas with his then only child Mary, but he must 
have had another family while he was in Texas.  
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Don Raney, writing in the DGS [Dallas Genealogical Society] Newsletter 
in January 1997, states:

Isaac Lyday and his brothers, Jacob and Andrew, were born in 
Buncombe County, North Carolina, the sons of  Henry Lyday and 
Mary Williams.  The Lyday family migrated to White County, 
Tennessee in 1808.  Isaac, Jacob and Andrew Lyday migrated to Red 
River (now Fannin) County, Texas, in 1835.  They settled on the north 
bank of  the North Sulphur River near the present Fannin and Lamar 
County line.5

This article gives clues to the parents of  Andrew Lyday, as well as the name 
of  another brother, Jacob Lyday.  

By combining the elements of  these three unsourced stories it is possible to 
construct a tentative timeline for Andrew’s life and a possible migration trail to 
follow, namely: Andrew Lyday was born in 1804 in Buncombe County, North 
Carolina; he moved with his parents in 1808 to White County, Tennessee; he 
moved again with his brothers in 1835 to present-day Fannin County, Texas.  
However, when Mr. Avery says that Andrew and Isaac are from Tennessee, 
he does not apparently mean they were born there, but rather that they moved 
to Texas from Tennessee.  It appears that these three Lyday brothers were 
originally from North Carolina.

From Clues to Records

Genealogists know they must not rely on unsourced stories but must 
search for records that support the narratives. 

The 1820 U. S. Census lists a Henry Lyda (the spelling of  the Lyday 
family changes over time) living in White County, Tennessee.  Son Andrew 
would be 16 years old in the census taken in August, since Andrew is said to 
have been born in 1804.  The census for Henry Lyda shows three unnamed 
boys in his household in the category of  males 10 through 15.  One of  them 
is probably Andrew, even though the age is slightly off.6

  Several documents and listings show that Andrew was in the Fannin 
County area of  Texas by 1836. Andrew Lyday was listed as Justice of  the 
Peace for Red River County for the years 1836–1838, which dates from the 
beginning of  the Republic of  Texas and prior to the formation of  Fannin 
County from Red River County on 14 December 1837.7

He also owned land in the early days of  the Republic.  A document in the 
Texas State Archives shows that Andrew Lyday is in the Republic of  Texas on 
a Red River County list to claim a second-class headright of  1,280 acres of  land 
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with an emigration date of  07 December 1836.  Andrew Lyday appears on line 
192 of  the fourth page of  the document, which is dated 14 December 1838.8

Land grants in the Republic of  Texas (1836  – 1846) were issued according 
to the Texas General Land Office (GLO): “In order to build a tax base and 
encourage settlement in the new Republic of  Texas, immigrants were granted 
land by the government.  The amount of  acreage issued was based on the 
time period in which an immigrant arrived in Texas.”9 These grants were 
called headrights, of  which there are four classes.  Those arriving before 2 
March 1836—the date the Texas Declaration of  Independence was signed—
were entitled to first-class headrights.  Those who arrived after the start of  
the Republic of  Texas but before 1 October 1837, were granted second-class 
headrights.  The GLO explains: “Heads of  families were eligible for 1,280 
acres and single men were eligible for 640 acres.”10 Andrew Lyday was granted 
1,280 acres, implying he had a family at this time. 

The unconditional certificate for the 1,280 acres of  land was not issued 
until 13 September 1841, when Andrew’s brother Jacob is mentioned as a 
witness.  This information is on the top line of  “The Report of  Unconditional 
Certificates issued by the Board of  Land Comr’s of  Lamar County, for the 
quarter ending Dec the 2nd 1841.”11

	 Andrew Lyday pays taxes on Fannin County land in 1842.12 He is taxed 
on a total of  1,476 acres, rather than the 1,280 allowed by the second-class 
headright, so he appears to have acquired more land.  His brother Isaac Lyday 
is also taxed on 1,476 acres on the same document. In 1843, Andrew has 2,116 
acres, while his brother Isaac still has the 1,476 acres he had in 1842.13 

	 In 1846 Andrew “Liday” and his brother Isaac “Liday” both appear on 
a Republic of  Texas Poll List living in Fannin County.14 According to the May 
27, 1846 edition of  The Texas Democrat of  Austin, Texas, Andrew Lyday is also 
a Notary Public for Fannin County.15 
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The 1847 Fannin County tax record shows not only Andrew and Isaac, 
but also Andrew’s future son-in-law, R.W. Lane as well as R.W. Lane’s father, 
David Lane, an early Texas surveyor.  The writing is hard to read, but Andrew 
has less land, since he is taxed on only 1,313 1/2 acres.16 1849 is the last year 
Andrew Lyday pays taxes for his Fannin County land.  He has 1,314 acres.17  
He appears to be a successful landowner, with civic responsibilities.

Researching Andrew’s Death and Burial

	 When researching Andrew Lyday in 2014, the death dates given for 
him by other Lyday family researchers were varied and all undocumented.  
The original Find a Grave memorial added in 2013 for him said he was buried 
in an unmarked grave.  However, this raised a question: Why would what 
appeared to be a fairly prosperous man be buried without a headstone?

	 A rather extensive article about Fort Lyday on the Fannin County 
Historical Commission website revealed a clue about Andrew’s death: 

Two graveyards are near the site of  Fort Lyday, the Bledsoe cemetery 
and the older Lyday cemetery.  Isaac Lyday is buried in the older 
cemetery along with the oldest negro and white settlers.  Andrew 
Lyday is buried at the Bledsoe cemetery.  Andrew Lyday’s gravestone 
is located in the Bledsoe cemetery, located across the road from the 
original site of  Fort Lyday (land now owned by Bill and Mary Ann 
Thurman).18 
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So Andrew Lyday has a gravestone after all.  A picture of  the stone might 
confirm his dates of  birth and death.  A request to the administrator of  the 
Fannin County, Texas, TxGenWeb site was successful.  Suzi Henderson, the 
Fannin County website coordinator, sent two photos, which she explained 
were taken by cameraman and volunteer Larry Standlee.  The first is of  the 
gravestone “as is” and the carving on the stone is hard to read. 

      The second [shown on left] has 
been dusted with cornstarch, to 
fill in the lettering:  “ANDREW 
LYDAY BORN July 4, 1804. 
DIED Nov 27, 184(?)”  The last 
number, here shown as a question 
mark, is not identifiable in the 
picture.19 Research, however, indi
cates the number is a nine.  
Andrew Lyday last paid taxes in 
1849.  By 1850 his wife, Mary M. 
Lyday, administrator for A. Lyday, 
was paying taxes on land next to 
her brother-in-law Isaac Lyday.  If  
Mary M. Lyday was administrator 
for her husband, then he had 
possibly died in 1849.20 

The 1850 U. S. Census Mortal
ity Schedule for Andrew Lyday of  
Fannin County has different death 
information.21 This document 

states that he was 44 when he died the previous year of  a liver ailment in 
October, not November.  He is recorded as having been born in N. C., which 
is most likely North Carolina.  This information, in the absence of  a birth or 
christening record, adds credibility to the birthplace previously mentioned.  If  
the information on this document is accurate, then Andrew Lyday would have 
a birth year of  1805, not 1804, and he would have died in October of  1849, not 
November of  1849 as is on his grave marker.

The probate record for Andrew Lyday also supports the information on 
the gravestone.22 The probate includes his will, dated “November 20 A. D. 
1849.”  His will mentions his wife Mary M. Lyday, his brother Jacob Lyday, 
and his children with Mary, although he does not name them.  They require 
a guardian, so they are not adults.  The children of  Mary Lyday on the 1850 
census are all under the age of  16.23
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Future Research

There are more questions about Andrew Lyday.  A marriage record exists 
for an Andrew Lidy (yet another spelling of  the family name) and Sarah M. 
Reynolds in Hardeman County, Tennessee in 1831.24 The Andrew Lyday of  
this article is said to have come from White County, Tennessee, not Hardeman 
County, so is this the same Andrew Lyday?  Is Sarah M. Reynolds Lyday the 
mother of  Mary Lyday (1832  – 1847), mentioned by John Avery in Fannin 
County Folks & Facts?  Is Mary M. Lyday of  the probate record, the 1850 census, 
and the mother of  Andrew’s four children on that record a second wife?  Where 
is their marriage record?  The search will continue.
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Alice’s Looking Glass:
Reflection on the Prussian Drahns to Texas

2016 DGS Writing Contest Third Place Winner

by Vicki Welch Ayo

Over the years when I gazed into the mirror of  the 
antique vanity that belonged to my great-

grandmother, Alice Belvedora Drahn, I would think 
of  my ancestors.  Pretending the dressing table had a 
scrying mirror, I would squint and try to envision the 
past instead of  the future. From what I have now 
learned about my ancestors, I think about all that the 
mirror has reflected: Alice Belvedora’s face in ill 
health and sadness when her husband left the family 
at the time my grandfather was so young. There were 
several times while sitting in front of  that same 
dressing table brushing my hair, I could swear I 
caught a momentary glimpse of  one of  my ancestors. 

	 In picturesque Brandenburg, Germany, my third great-grandparents 
Johann Joachim Erdmann Drähn and Maria Catharine Christiane Alfert 
married in the Lutheran St. Catharinen-Kirche of  Lenzen on 13 February 
1825.1 From family stories I learned that the couple were trained shepherds 
who raised sheep and supplied nobility with knit goods like socks.  Though they 
had rights to the common grazing land, times were hard and they hungered for 
more. In 1855 the couple, along with four children (Friedrich, 26; Joachim, 16; 
Christian, 14; and Maria, 11), boarded the John Hermann, and settling in the 
main cabin on deck, journeyed toward the land of  opportunity.2 Such a passage 
was the beginning for many families in an exciting new country and the thrill of  
its many possibilities likely drove my family like a great unstoppable wave upon 
the ocean. This excitement, along with the desire to fit in, prompted the couple 
to dream up new names for their children. Maria’s name was aptly changed 
to America (and later changed to Mary Ann). Christian Friedrich Carl’s name 
was changed to Christopher Columbus. Johann Joachim Friedrich, my second 
great-grandfather, chose the name Joseph.

	 After the family’s arrival in America on 28 May 1855, they most probably 
joined the eldest son John in Lyons, Illinois, where he had immigrated earlier.1 
Carl Drahn, another son, had made the journey to America 23 May 1854.2  On 
29 June 1860 John, his wife Helena, and their newborn baby daughter Anna 
are still found in Lyons, Illinois4 but on the same date Carl is in Texas, south 
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of  Waco, working on a ranch.5  On 10 July 1860 Mary Drahn, 16, is working 
as a domestic servant in the Schummer household in St. Louis, Missouri.6 The 
rest of  the family is not found on the 1860 US census but family stories tell of  
their journey by railroad to St Louis where they left Mary in the care of  the 
Schummers and then travelling on by ferry and wagons, driving their sheep 
with them and crossing the Red River into Texas. When the family first laid 
eyes on Texas, perhaps in the spring of  1860, it was love at first sight (or so my 
mother told me).  Bluebonnets, the state flower, were in full bloom covering the 
softly rolling hillsides interspersed with coral Indian paintbrush and the vision 
was breathtaking. 

	  The Drahns chose to live in North Central Texas in a German immigrant 
community near Womack in Bosque (pronounced “boss key”) County where 
John and Carl Drahn (aka Drane, Drain) are shown paying taxes on livestock 
from 1863 to 1865.7 A history book about Bosque County states: “They [the 
Drahns] were prosperous sheep and cattle ranchers and travelled by wagon to 
Waco for their supplies. Since there were no banks their money was usually 
placed under barrels of  supplies in the wagon for safe keeping.”8 The county 
is about sixty miles south of  Dallas and forty miles north of  Waco.  Pioneers 
settled along Childers Creek; and many towns sprang up in nearby areas 
including Clifton, Valley View and Greenock.  Bosque County was typical of  
frontier society between the 1840s and 1870s.9

	 All the brothers except Christopher were drafted into the Army and served 
in the Confederacy.  According to family lore, Christopher had ill health and 
stayed behind to care for the parents and tend the sheep.  Carl Drahn was 
a Private in Co B in the 30th Texas Cavalry (Gurley’s) (1st Texas Partisan 
Rangers), Joseph Drahn was a Private 1 in the 15th Texas Infantry and Frederick 
was a member of  Company “H” of  the 4th Texas Infantry Confederate States 
Army.10  
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	 After the war, Carl, Fredrick, and Joseph returned home with Carl and 
Frederick partnering in one sheep ranch and Joseph and Christopher sharing 
another.11 Frederick married Mariah Ann Taylor on 31 December 1865 in 
McLennan County12 but the marriage ended with Frederick’s mysterious death 
in 1866.13 Family rumors were that he was poisoned by his brother Christopher 
who was also in love with Mariah. She was carrying Frederick’s child at the 
time of  his death and had turned to his brother Joseph for support. It is believed 
that Joseph wanted to take over the ranch for his deceased brother and care for 
his family too.14 Joseph and Mariah married on 23 May 1867.15 

	 By 1866 Mary Ann had joined her parents and brothers in Texas where she 
married Benjamin Thomas Prather on 11 March.16 Christopher, his sister Mary 
Ann and her husband Benjamin  Prather along with the Drahn parents, Johann 
and Maria, disappeared to the Ozark Mountains of  Missouri.17 Johann and 
Maria Drahn both died in Missouri probably between 1877 and 1879: their 
graves are resting under the lake at Table Rock Dam.18  Mary Ann with her 
husband and children returned to Texas before 1880 and she died there in 
1923.19 Christopher remained in Missouri, married, had children and died on 
31 January 1920 in Reed Spring, Stone County .20

    My second great-grandfather, Joseph, 
remained in Texas and continued to pay 
tax on his land and large herd of  sheep 
in Bosque County from 1877 to 1891.21  
However, by 1880 he and his family are 
residing in Waco, McLennan County, 
Texas.22 His daughter Alice Belvedora 
Drahn, my great-grandmother, married 
Charles Marion Feris [shown on left], 
supposedly on her 20th birthday, 
4 September 1888 in McLennan 
County.23  They had four sons; the 
youngest, Charlie Marion Feris, is my 
grandfather. 

	     Following are a few letters from Alice 
and her husband Charley that were 
written to her father, Joseph Drahn 
from their farm in Bismarck, Wichita 
County, Texas, about 200 miles away. 

These letters provide a glimpse into Alice’s life in the late 1890s. 
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Letter from Alice Belvedora to her father Joseph Drahn in 1896 sent from her farm in 
Bismarck, Wichita County, Texas.  In the letters she thanks him for the warm clothes. 
Her youngest son, Charlie M Feris, my grandfather is seen here on the right.

10 February 189624

Mr. Joe Drahn

Dear Papa,

It has been a month since I wrote to you and have never received an 
answer yet so I will write again.  I received the package you sent me by 
express.  I can’t thank you enough for the good warm clothes.  I don’t 
know what we would do if  you didn’t help us sometimes.  I am still 
taking Dr. Pierce’s Favorite Prescription.  It’s curing me.  I am feeling 
so much better since I’ve been taking it.

I am your loving daughter,

Alice Feris

18 May 189625

Mr. Joseph Drahn

Dear Pa,

I received your kind letter today.  I am ever so much obliged to you for 
your kind offer but I could not accept it now.  We are going to stay here 
one more year and give this country another chance.  We can’t bear the 
idea of  giving up our home that is paid for and start out to renting until 
the last chance.  It is true we will be very hard run for the next year but 
I yet have hopes and we’ll give this country one other trial for a crop.  
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We have not had a good season in the ground since the middle of  
March but have had a light shower or two since that time.  I will make a 
little wheat.  I think I will get two or three hundred bushels.  Will have 
to commence cutting in a few days.  Oats will yet make a little if  we get 
rain but will hardly do to cut without it.  My corn is looking very well 
yet; it is from knee high to waist high.  Have plowed it three times and 
harrowed it one time.  I planted ten acres in cotton but it did not come 
up to do any good.  Will plant it over if  it rains.

We have two nice mule colts.  They are about one month old now.  
Have some nice shoats to make our meat for next year.  Have about 50 
bushels each of  corn and oats yet and nearly half  of  our sorghum hay 
that we had when you were here.  I reckon you have heard of  Grand 
Pa being dead.  He died the last of  March.  

F.M. Davis was arrested and put under a $5000 bond to appear in court 
charged with helping lynch those bank robbers some time back.  There 
were also several others arrested in the Falls charged with the same 
offense.  They gave bond easily and will come clean I think without any 
trouble.  Well, I will close for the present; hoping to hear from you soon.  

I remain as ever, 

Your affectionate son,

C.M. Feris

		  8 April 189726

		  Mr. Joe Drahn

		  Dear Pa,

I will write you a few lines today in answer to your letter which arrived 
Sunday.  We are all well except Alice.  Her health has not been very 
good this spring.  She has been in bed about half  of  the time for the 
last month.  Well, Pa, we are having plenty of  rain out here this spring.  
Our wheat and oats are looking fine now.

We have been having some nice, warm weather lately but a very cold 
norther came out last night and I fear we will have frost when it breaks 
up. 
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We will be looking for you next week.  I will close for the present.  

I remain your son,

C. M. Feris

	 Joseph Drahn died 3 months later 13 July 1897.27 He raised prize-winning 
Merino rams, ewes, and lambs and sold most of  his wool to Sanger Brothers 
of  Waco, pioneer retailers asking to be paid in gold.  Joseph was a very good 
businessman.  He stayed three or four nights in Waco spending one night 
with Sanger or R.T. Dennis and one or two other friends.  He never followed 
the same pattern twice and would leave before daylight with his money in 
saddlebags.  When he got home he buried the gold and when a good land 
value would arise, he would buy.  He gave each of  his children a sizeable ranch 
before his death.28 

	 By 1900 Alice and Charlie are back home in McLennan County living 
near her brother John Fritz Drahn.29  In 1910 Alice and her family are living in 
Stanford, Jones County, Texas and her widowed mother is with them.30  After 
many years of  ill health, Alice died of  “paralysis” on 12 July 1918 in Tuxedo, 
Jones County, Texas.31

  	 I have thought of  Alice, seated at her vanity table, dosing herself  with Dr. 
Pierce’s tonic as she desperately sought relief.  It is impossible to say if  the 
natural herbs in the tonic aided her or if  his products were quackery.  Some 
contend the product contained opium though this claim was never proven.32 
Alice was only 49 years old when she died in 1918 but the mirror still keeps her 
memory alive.

	 In hopes of  discovering a brighter future for their children, many emigrants 
set sail for America, the land of  freedom.  Like so many others our family 
has flourished and helped weave the fabric of  what has made so great and 
diversified a country as America.  We were lucky our family had the courage 
and strength to ride the ocean to our new home.  It has provided so many 
generations the opportunity to live in a beautiful land and participate in 
America’s great experiment of  freedom and liberty.  There are many of  us all 
spread out today and I am sure our lives and futures are much brighter because 
of  the vision our German ancestors had so long ago to make the voyage that 
led to the betterment of  us all.

	 The author would like to thank Paul Drahn, Cathryn Millburn and Pat 
Theopistos for all their work on this family genealogy. 
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